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The Hebrew University 
In Wartime

By Prof. I. J. Kli S ler

Dr. I. J. Kligler, head of the Hebrew University's Department of 
Hygiene and Bacteriology, wlio is cooperating with the United States 
Medical Organisation in the Near East, acting in an advisory capac­ 
ity mid giving courses in malaria and other tropical diseases to 
medical officers and field personnel, describes the Hebrew Univer­ 
sity's scientific contribiUions to the allied war effort.

—THE EDITOR

The soundness of an institution is 
often attested by its serviceability in 
times of crises. Measured by this 
criterion the Hebrew University of 
Jerusalem has proven an essential 
and deeply-rooted seat of learning. It 
served the Jewish people in their need 
before the war, when the wave of 
Hitlerism which swept most of the 
countries of Europe shut the doors of 
Universities to Jewish students. It 
is serving Palestine and the United 
Nations in their needs now, that the 
cruel war calls for the maximum ex­ 
ploitation of available resources hu­ 
man and material.

When the Hebrew University was 
established in 1925 skeptics shrugged 
their shoulders. Why a University, 

- in a country having only 150,000 
Jews? Why spend money on Univer­ 
sity education in a country whose 
needs for elementary and secondary 
education have not yet been met? 
And the sponsors of the University 
took refuge in the assurance that the 
University would be primarily a seat 
of research and that no teaching was 
contemplated.

By 1928 pressure from a growing 
population forced the then young Uni­ 
versity, devoted solely to research, to 
open its doors to students. Formal 
teaching was begun in the Humani­ 
ties and a Faculty of Arts called into 
being. The relatively rapid growth 
of the University under tne devoted 
leadership of Dr. Magnes also made 
possible the initiation of teaching by 
the School of Biology in 1932 and the 
organization of a Faculty of Science 
in 1933. At that time, research was 
still the primary function of the Uni­ 
versity, since teaching occupied only 
part of the time of the Scientific Staff.

Then came Hitler and Hitlerism. 
Successively German, Polish and Ital­ 
ian schools shut their doors to Jewish 
students. Applicants from various 
countries clamored for admission to 
the one institution of higher learning 
on which Jewish students had a claim. 
And the skeptics no longer raised 
their eyebrows or shrugged their 
shoulders. Limited though the staff, 
facilities and means were, the Uni­ 
versity opened its doors to all who 
qualified straining its capacity to the 
maximum. The student body rose 
from 200 to 1200.

During these fateful pre-war years 
teaching became the major concern 
of the University. To the chagrin of 
the founders and many of the scien­ 
tific staff, scientific research suffered 
because the men and facilities were 
exploited to meet the needs of an ever 
growing body of students. Neverthe­ 
less many members of the staff, des­ 
pite budgetary limitation, continued 
their scientific and scholarly work 
and made fundamental contributions 
to science and scholarship.

Then came the war. Again the Uni­ 
versity was put to the test. During 
the academic year 1939-40 the stu­ 
dent registration reached 1250. Work 
as usual was the by-word. The war 
was hardly felt, certainly not until 
Italy entered the war. Then came a 
change. The war came nearer home, 
it became more real. On the one hand 
students began to enlist, on the other 
the Army and local industry working 
for the army came to the University

laboratories for advice and for assist­ 
ance in solving pressing problems.

The momentum of enlistment in­ 
creased and the academic year 1941- 
42 opened with only 650 registered 
students, a drop of about 40% in stu­ 
dent registration. At the same time 
we witnessed an intensification of the 
research activities in the various lab­ 
oratories. Once again the importance 
of the University as a scientific re­ 
search institution came to the fore. 
Once again the vision of the found­ 
ers and early builders of the Univer­ 
sity was fully justified.

The value of 'the scientific labora­ 
tories of the University to the war 
effort and the important functions 
which all our scientific institutions 
could fill towards the winning of the 
war was now officially recognized. 
At the beginning of 1942 The War 
Supply Board of Palestine appointed 
a Scientific Advisory Committee--un­ 
der the chairmanship of Dr. J.' L. 
Magnes. This committee, composed 
of representatives of the various 
scientific institutions in the country, 
is in reality a scientific research coun­ 
cil. The University is represented by 
Dr. Magnes (chairman Prof. Parkas, 
scientific secretary and Prof. Kligler. 
The Sieff Institute is represented by 
Dr. Block, the Director. Prof. Volcani, 
the director of the Agricultural Ex­ 
periment Station, represents that in­ 
stitution, and Mr. Kaplanski the head 
of the Technical Institute of Haifa al­ 
ternates with Prof. Olendorf for that 
School. This Research Council ad­ 
vises not only the Palestine Govern­ 
ment but also the Middle East Supply _ 
Center, and Palestine thus takes its 
place as the recognized scientific cen­ 
ter of the Middle East.

For the University this means a re­ 
vival of the spirit of research. AH
•the laboratories are actively engaged 
in the study of one problem or an­ 
other. The Botany department has 
made a survey of native plants which 
may have medicinal value and some 
are being studied more intensively 
with a view to exploitation. The 
Physics Department has been busy 
and productive in the field of radio 
detection, precision instruments, the 
insulating property of various local 
plants, particularly reeds and papi- 
rus, etc. The Chemistry Departments 
are engaged in a variety of studies 
some related directly to war industry 
which cannot be divulged, others of 
considerable industrial importance as 
substitute for products imported from, 
abroad. Examples are catalytic pro- : 
duction of acetic acid, studies on ex­ 
ploitation of lacol insoluble phos­ 
phates, production of stable pyreth- 
rum extracts from the locally grown 
plants, utilization of the orange peel 
for fodder and so on. The Department 
of Physiology is working out methods 
of production of hormones, such as 
insulin, adrenaline, etc. The new De­ 
partment of Pharmocology has under­ 
taken responsibility for standardizing 
and testing a variety of pharmaceu-
•tic preparations produced by local 
manufacturers. The Department of 
Hygiene and Bacteriology is studying 
methods of producing typhus and dys­ 
entery vaccines, testing disinfectants, 
investigating insect repellants, and 
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